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Whichcote Castle 
Near Fairlee 
1750 

Paul Whichcote (1685-1757) purchased 100 acres of"Perch Meadow" 

and "Woodlands Intention" in 1739 located on the side "of the main road that 

leads from the church (St. Paul's) to Worton Creek and near the said Paul 

Whichcote's Plantation ".1 Whichcote's name appears as a witness to several 

wills earlier than 1739, and later in 17 44, he purchased another 150 acres of 

the same tracts mentioned above.2 In the late 1740's and early 1750's he was 

appointed Commissioner of the Peace and Justice for Inspection of Tobacco, 

along with Bedingfield Hands, Jervis Spence, Hugh Wallis and others, all 

prominent business men of that period.3 

In 1752 "Paul Whichcote, Marriner" wrote his will which was 

probated in 1757. He appointed his wife Mary and son Paul to be co­

executors. He bequeathed his plantation to be equally divided between his 

son and daughter, Sarah and 50 acres to his grandson Benjamin Wright.4 

The appraisers of Paul's estate included John Wickes and John Carvill. His 

personal inventory amounted to @436.10 and included several books, 

shoemaker's tools, seven Negroes and an indentured servant, beside the 

usual items found on a modest plantation which grew primarily tobacco and 

wheat.5 

The house which Paul built on his plantation had a very common for 

18th century dwellings throughout the Chesapeake area. However, its roof 

slope was a little steeper than most remaining dwellings of this period. An 

outstanding feature is its brickwork. Three sides are laid in all header bond. 



It is reputed to have a glazed date of 1750 in its gable, but due to the fact 

that it has been whitewashed and the all header bond, it is impossible to 

determine without removal of the whitewash. The initials WPM can be 

determined, even without cleaning. These are the initials of the builders -

Paul and Mary Whichcote. 

From an outline in the north gable, it is clear to see that the original 

kitchen was located there. Undoubtedly this is the reason that common 

bond was used on this gable. 

Around the turn of the century a two story frame wing was 

constructed on the east side of the house. Judging from the description in 

the WPA Guide the house had a plan which consisted of hall-parlor in the 

brick section, two rooms in the kitchen wing and the aforementioned two 

story east wing. Each of these five rooms had stairs to the chambers above. 

When the kitchen wing was removed, the connecting door was 

converted into a window. About the same time, the interior was gutted and a 

new stair was installed in the living room in such a way as to ascend 

between the two bed chambers above. Little, if any of Paul Whichcote's 

interior remains in the house The house is the product of successive 

remodeling caused by periods of neglect. 

The descendants of Paul Whichcote retained title to the farm until 

1791 when the grandchildren sold the property to Peregrine Letherbury 

who later transferred it to Fray and Thomas.6 In the 1852 Tax Assessment, 

John S. Thomas is listed as owner of 40 acres of"Peach Meadow", an obvious 

misspelling of Perch on which there was an "Old Brick House in Bad 



Repair." On the 1860 Martinet Map, Thomas is still listed in this location, 

but by 1877, when the Lake Griffing St.evenson Atlas was print.ed, the farm 

was owned by Robert Nicholson, a nurseryman whose residence was 

locat.ed on an adjoining farm. Although it left the Nicholson family for many 

years, the current owner is Robert Nicholson's great granddaught.er.7 

1. Land Records, Lib. JS 22, fol. 449. 

2. Land Records, Lib. 6, fol. 188. 

3. Commission Records, Maryland Hall of Records, Nov. 9, 1747, p. 82. 

4. Wills, Lib. 30, fol. 311. 

5. Inventories, Box 19, folder 60. 

6. Land Records, Lib. BC 3, fol. 212, 214, 215. 

7. Most of the research has been accomplished by James E. Whit.e, III, 

New Bern, NC. 
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Witch Coach, Wych Cote, Goblin Hill, Witch Coat Castle 
Chestertown 
Private 

18th Century 

Witch Coat Castle is a small one and one-half story three bay 
brick building with a header bond facade, a detail rarely seen out­
side of Chestertown and Annapolis. The building stands on ground once 
a part of Fairlee Manor. Its name may derive from "wych" or "wych-elm" 
the 17th century English word for common elm and cote or cottage. 
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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE 

Witch Coate Castle, dispite its name, is a small, brick cottage 
which stands on a sunny hillside on Route 298, north of Fairlee. The 
building faces west. 

Witch Coate is a one and one-half storyJ_ gable roofed build­
ing type commonly built in the Kent County courtryside in the 18th 
century. It is three bays wide, with a central front entrance. 
Originally the building had a central rear entrance which has been 
replaced by a small window at the level of the present stair land­
ing. Gable end chimneys are enclosed within the walls. 

There are two gable dormers in the west roof slope. Although 
there were almost certainly two dormers in each roof slope originally, 
these have widely overhanging eaves and triangular applique in the 
tympanum which indicate their Victorian date. One dormer remains 
in the rear roof slope; the other was removed when a modern rear 
wing was constructed. 

Windows have 9/9 sash; their frames are set within old, beaded 
trim with sills which are also beaded on the lower edge. There 
are basement windows with iron bars in window bays. The original 
cellar entrance, beneath the present wing is unused. 

The main entrance now has double louvered doors in a three 
foot door opening with a small transom light above. An earlier 
one bay entrance porch with shed roof and benches has been replaced 
by a small stoop. 

The interior is modern. An open stair in the present living 
room probably replaces enclosed corner stair(s) commonly used in 
this house type. 

The most outstanding feature of this old house is its brick 
work: corbelled eaves, a stepped water table laid in an irregular 
band, and all header bond on the front, south gable, and rear facades. 
In the gable are initials and a date, (reputedly 1750), now covered 
with paint. 

The remaining gable is laid in common bond likely because the 
original kitchen wing, of which an outline of a steep gable roof 
is visible, stood against this wall. The wing, one and one-half 
story and reportedly of log (plank) contruction, was destroyed about 
50 years ago. 

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY 
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Witch Coate Castle is architecturally significant because 
it is one of the few remaining 18th century farmhouses of its type 
in the County. Although its original interior has vanished, its 
unusual brickwork remains. All header bond, common only in Chester­
town and Annapolis, is rare even in these towns and even more un­
usual in country houses. 

The house stands on the old Fairlee Manor. Its name may derive 
from "wych" or "wych-elm" the 17th century English word for witch 
or common elm and cote or cottage. 

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY 
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The Maryland Historic Sites Inventory was officially created 
by an Act of the Maryland Legislature, to be found in the 
Annotated Code of Maryland, Article 41, Section 181 KA, 
1974 Supplement. 

The Survey and Inventory are being prepared for information 
and record purposes only and do not constitute any infringe­
ment of individual property rights. 

RETURN TO: Maryland Historical Trust 
The Shaw House, 21 State Circle 
Annapolis, Maryland 21401 
( 301) 267-1438 
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